

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# ELSEVIER

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbacan



# Review TBX2 and TBX3: The special value for anticancer drug targets

Juan Lu<sup>a,b</sup>, Xiang-Ping Li<sup>a</sup>, Qi Dong<sup>b</sup>, Hsiang-fu Kung<sup>b,d</sup>, Ming-Liang He<sup>b,c,d,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou 510515, China

<sup>b</sup> Stanley Ho Center for Emerging Infectious Diseases, School of Public Health, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

<sup>c</sup> Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

<sup>d</sup> Li Ka Shing Institute of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 9 June 2010 Received in revised form 29 June 2010 Accepted 2 July 2010 Available online 17 July 2010

Keywords: TBX2 TBX3 Tumorigenesis

# ABSTRACT

TBX2 and TBX3 are members of the T-box family of transcription factors, which are implicated in embryonic development. Unlike most members of the T-box family, TBX2 and TBX3 are the only mammalian T-box factors which function as transcriptional repressors, mediated by the repression domain in the C-terminal. In addition to a role in development, recent evidence suggests that TBX2 and TBX3 are overexpressed in a number of cancers, including melanoma, breast, liver, lung, pancreas, ovarian, and cervical cancers. However, there is little information about the mechanisms for how these T-box genes contribute to tumorigenesis. Upregulation of TBX2 and TBX3 suppresses the expression of p14<sup>ARF</sup> and p21<sup>CIP1</sup> and promotes bypass of senescence through inactivation of p53 pathway. TBX2 functionally interacts with pRb, and pRb modulates TBX2 functional specificity. In addition, TBX2 is a player of VTM signaling while TBX3 is a downstream target of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway, and overexpression of TBX2 and TBX3 represses the expression of Ecadherin, which is demonstrated to be a prerequisite for epithelial tumor cell invasion. Moreover, TBX2 is shown to interact with EGR1 to block multiple downstream tumor suppressors. Here, we review the current knowledge on TBX2 and TBX3 in tumorigenesis and prospect their special value for development of target-based anticancer drugs.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

### Contents

	2.00				
I. Introduction	. 268				
2. The T-box gene family	. 269				
The T domain and the repression domain (RD)					
4. TBX2/TBX3 and cancer	. 270				
5. Roles of TBX2/TBX3 in tumorigenesis	. 270				
5.1. p14 <sup>ARF</sup> (p19 <sup>ARF</sup> )/MDM2/p53/p21 <sup>CIP1</sup> pathway	. 270				
5.2. pRb pathway	. 271				
5.3. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway	. 271				
5.4. EGR1 signaling pathway	. 272				
6. Potential targets of cancer therapy	. 272				
7. Concluding remarks and perspectives	. 272				
Acknowledgement	. 272				
References	. 272				

Abbreviations: CDKs, cyclin-dependent kinases; EGR1, early growth response 1; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; MEFs, mouse embryonic fibroblasts; RD, repression domain; RNAi, RNA interference; siRNA, small interfering RNA; TGF $\beta$ , transforming growth factor  $\beta$ ; UMS, ulnar-mammary syndrome; CTCL, cutaneous T-cell lymphoma

\* Corresponding author. Stanley Ho Center for Emerging Infectious Diseases, School of Public Health, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China. Tel.: +852 37636096; fax: +852 21458013.

E-mail address: mlhe7788@gmail.com (M.-L. He).

# 1. Introduction

The T-box gene family is an ancient gene family as indicated by phylogenetic analysis. This family has achieved great prominence in the field of developmental biology. Since the discovery of the first Tbox factor, Brachyury, many studies have focused on the cloning of other family members and the determining their spatial and temporal expression patterns during development [1]. Later studies have

<sup>0304-419</sup>X/\$ - see front matter © 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2010.07.001

shown that the T-box family members are transcription factors, which are characterized by a highly conserved DNA binding domain. Unlike most members of the T-box family that function as transcriptional activators, TBX2 and TBX3 are the only mammalian T-box factors that function as transcriptional repressors [2,3]. Increasing efforts have been made to reveal the roles of TBX2 and TBX3 in cancer, and the data appear to suggest that they are potential targets in cancer therapy.

#### 2. The T-box gene family

The T-box gene family encodes transcription factors which play a critical role in embryonic development. The first T-box member, Brachyury (T), has been shown to be involved in development since 1927 [4]. The prototypical mouse T (Brachyury) gene was cloned by Herrmann et al. in 1990 [5]. In 1992, the omb gene in *Drosophila melanogaster* was found to share homology with Brachyury in the DNA binding domain [6]. Since the discovery of mouse T gene and its orthologs, more than 20 TBX genes have been identified in species ranging from invertebrates such as *Drosophila* and *C. elegans* to vertebrates including *Zebrafish, Xenopus*, mouse, chicken and human. These T-box genes are highly conserved in evolution and achieve great prominence in the field of developmental biology.

Current phylogenetic analysis divides the T-box family into five subfamilies, namely T, TBX1, TBX2, TBX6 and TBR1 [7]. The TBX2 subfamily includes the closely related TBX2, TBX3, TBX4 and TBX5 genes. In human, there is a TBX2 and TBX4 cluster on chromosome 17q23 and a TBX3 and TBX5 cluster on chromosome 12q24 [8]. However, because of the unusual manner of tandem duplication and cluster dispersion, TBX2 on 17q23 is actually most closely related to TBX3 on 12q24, while TBX4 shares greatest homology with TBX5.

To date, the majority of information available concerning TBX2 and TBX3, like other T-box proteins, comes mainly from developmental biology. Several studies have focused on the spatial and temporal expression patterns of TBX2/TBX3 during development, and their functions ranging from the specification of early embryonic germ layers to the determination of cell fate during organogenesis [9]. Indeed, the critical role of T-box genes in development is underscored by the fact that mutations in several T-box genes are associated with a number of developmental defects. In human, mutations in TBX3 and TBX5 would lead to autosomal dominant or semi-dominant genetic

syndromes. Mutations in TBX3 cause an autosomal dominant disorder, the ulnar-mammary syndrome (UMS) [10], and mutations in TBX5 lead to Holt-Oram's syndrome, with characteristic defects in the heart and limb [11,12].

Very little is known about the signaling pathways which regulate the expression of T-box genes during early embryonic development, and even less is known about the complex regulation of their expression post-embryogenesis. However, over the last few years, it has been demonstrated that several signaling pathways are closely associated with the expression of TBX2/TBX3, including transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ), fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and Wnt signaling pathways [13], which are key players in cell proliferation, differentiation, and patterning during early embryonic development. In a recent study, TBX2 has been shown to be specifically phosphorylated by the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in response to UVC irradiation [14].

#### 3. The T domain and the repression domain (RD)

The hallmark feature of the T-box family is a highly conserved region of approximately 200 amino acid residues corresponding to the DNA binding domain known as the T-box. The T-box is located anywhere within the protein and has no apparent sequence similarity to any known DNA-binding motif of other transcription factors [15]. The first member of the T-box family, Brachyury (T), has been the most extensively studied by far and utilized as a model for elucidating the structure and function of other T-box genes. For Brachyury, sequence analysis revealed a palindromic sequence [TTT(G/C)ACACC-TAGGTGTGAAA] to which Brachyury could bind as a monomer or a dimer [16]. All members identified to date have been shown to bind to the core sequence GGTGTGA, referred to as the T-element, as a monomer [15]. However, some members have been shown to recognize other non-canonical sequences. In Holt-Oram's syndrome TBX5 was found to bind to an 8-bp core sequence that was part of the Brachyury consensus-binding sites [17]. In addition, TBX2 was reported to bind to the TRP-1 MSEu and MSEi motif as a repressor of TRP-1 expression [3]. Another study identified a variant T-site, matching 13 of 20 nucleotides of a consensus T-domain, as the essential TBX2/3-binding site in the human p14 promoter [18]. Although all T-box genes recognize similar DNA sequences, increasing evidence suggests that they regulate different target genes which may

	560 I	570	580 I	590 I	600 I	610 I	620 I
IBX3 (nom.s)	LPFHLQQHVI	LASQGLAIMS.	PFGSLFPYPYI	YMAAAAAAS SAA	A SSSVHRH	PFLNLNIW	RPRERYSPYS
TBX3 (mac.m)	LPFHLQQHVI	LASQGLAMS.	PFGSLFPYPYI	YMAAAAAAS SA	AA SSSVHRH	PFLNLNTM	RPRLRYSPYS
TBX3 (gal.g)	LPFHLQQHV	LASQGLAMS	PFGSLFPYPY1	YMAAAAAAS SA	A SNSVHRH	PFLNAV	RPRLRYSPYP
TBX3 (mus.m)	LPFHLQQHVI	LASQGLAMS	PFGSLFPYPYT	YMAAAAAAS TAA	AA SSSVHRH	PFLNLNSM	RPRLRYSPYS
TBX3 (cyn.p)	LPFHLQQQVI	LASQGLAMS.	PFGGLFSYPY	IYMAAAAAAS TA.	AAAAA - SSS <mark>VHRH</mark>	PF-NAV	-RPRLRYSPYS
TBX3 (xen.l)	LPFHLQQQVI	LASQGLAMS	PFGGLFSYPY	FYMAAAAAAS SA	VHRH	PFLNAV	-RPRLRYNPYS
TBX3 (xen.f)	LPFHLQQQVI	LASQGLAMS	PFGGLFSYPY	FYMAAAAAAS SA	VHRH	PFLNAV	-RPRLRYSPYS
TBX3 (dan.r)	LPFHLQQHVI	LASQGLAMS	PFGGLFPYPY	FYMAAAAAAS SA	ASSSVHRH	PFLSAV	- RPRLRYSPY <mark>S</mark>
TBX2 (hom.s)	FPFHLSQ HM	LASQG IPMP	<b>FFGGLFPYPY</b>	l Amaaaaaa a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	LPATSA8 GSL S <mark>R</mark> S	PFLGSA	- RPRLR FSPYQ
TBX2 (mac.m)	FPFHLSQ HM	LASQG IPMP	TFGGLFPYPY	FYMAAAAAA <mark>A</mark> SAI	LPATSA9 GSL S <mark>R</mark> S	PFLGSA	- RPRLR FSPYQ
TBX2 (gal.g)	LPFHLQQHV	LASQGLAMS	PFGSLFPYPY1	TYMAAAAAA <mark>S</mark> SA.	ASN SVHRH	PFLNAV	- RPRLR YSPYP
TBX2 (mus.m)	FPFHLSQ HM	ILASQG IPMP	TFGGLFPYPY	TYMAAAAAA <mark>A</mark> SA	LPATSA8 GSL S <mark>R</mark> 3	SPFLGSA	- RPRLR FSPYQ
TBX2 (cyn.p)	LPFHLQQQV	LASQGLAMS	PFGGLFSYPY	TYMAAAAAA <mark>ST</mark> A	AAAAA - SSSVHR	IPFLNAV -	RPRLR YSPYS
TBX2 (xen.l)	FPFHLSQ HM	ILASQG IPMF	AFGGLFPYPY	TYMAAAAAAAAA	MPATSAATTMPRN	PFLSST	-RPRLRFNPYQ
TBX2 (xen. t)	FPFHLSQ HM	ILASQG IPMF	AFGGLFPYPY	TYMAAAAAAAAA	MPATSAATTMPRN	PFLSST	-RPRLRFNPYQ
TBX2 (dan.r)	FPFHLSQ HM	ILASQG IPMF	TFGGLFPYPY	TYMAAAAAA <mark>A</mark> SA	LPASSSTASS LSR	IPFLSSST -	RPRLRFNPYQ
~							
Consensus	FPFHL(SOO)O(	H/O)(M/V)LASC	OG(L/I)(P(A)M(P))	S)(T/A/P)FGGLFPYPY	TYMAAAAAA(S/T)A	X(2-17)(S(H/P))	R(S/H/N)PFLX(3-4)

RPRLR(Y/P)(S/N)PY(S/O/P)

Fig. 1. The highly conserved residues in TBX2 and TBX3 repression domain (RD). The identical residues in TBX2 or TBX3 are shown with red color; the conserved residues are shown with green color while variable residues are shown with black color.

be dependent on the promoter context and co-factors, such as different quaternary structures of T-box genes, which suggest different DNA binding modes and interactions with different target genes [19–21]. It is believed that the functions of T-box proteins are regulated by protein-protein interactions with other transcription factors, including TAZ, YAP, SMADs, EGR1 and Pitx homeoproteins, and many studies have indeed proven this to be the case [22–28].

Unlike most members of the T-box family that function as transcription activators, TBX2 and TBX3 are the only mammalian Tbox factors that function as transcriptional repressors [2,3]. The study of He et al. showed that the Xenopus TBX3 ortholog, ET, had a strong RD from residues 558 to 647 in the C-terminal, and the repression activity of this domain was quite similar to that of the full-length ET in both basal and activated transcription in human cell lines and Xenopus embryos. They also found that this RD was a portable repressor domain and highly conserved in human TBX3 and TBX2 [2]. A few years later, the study of Carlson et al. confirmed and extended these results. Their study revealed a key RD between amino acids 567 and 612 in human TBX3. Additionally, they showed that most UMSassociated C-terminal mutants lacked this RD and exhibited decreased or loss of transcriptional repression activity [29]. Moreover, more recent evidence has shown that the unique RD, composed of about 90-110 residues among different species, is found only in TBX2 and TBX3 and does not share any conserved sequence or motif with other known RDs (Dong et al., unpublished). Following a multiple alignment of TBX2 and TBX3 sequences among different species (i.e. ranged from zebrafish to human), they find that only 56 residues (between amino acids 558-623) are highly conserved (Fig. 1). The study of Yarosh et al. have shown that TBX3 interacts with HDAC1, 2, and 3 via two distinct binding sites, and deletion of the RD (amino acids 566-624) of TBX3 completely abolishes its interaction with HDAC5 [30]. This study suggests that TBX3 may function by recruiting HDACs to the RD in the promoter region. Therefore, detailed analysis on RD would help to further understand the molecular mechanisms of transcriptional repression mediated by TBX2 and TBX3.

# 4. TBX2/TBX3 and cancer

In addition to its key roles in development, accumulating evidence suggests a role of TBX2/TBX3 in tumorigenesis. In Fig. 2, we summarized the current findings of TBX2 and TBX3 and their associated signaling pathways involved in cancer development. The abnormal expression of TBX2 and TBX3 has been reported in various cancers (Table 1), including melanoma, breast, pancreatic, liver, lung, ovarian, bladder and cervical cancers [28,30–47]. TBX2 is shown to be



**Fig. 2.** Proposed model and mechanisms for roles of TBX2 and TBX3 in tumorigenesis. TBX2 and TBX3 can suppress several genes to alter downstream pathways and contribute to tumorigenesis. TBX2/3, a downstream target of Wnt/beta-catenin pathway and pRb pathway, promotes proliferation and metastasis by repressing p14<sup>ARF</sup>, p21<sup>CIP1</sup>, NDRG1 and E-cadherin.

#### Table 1

TBX2 and TBX3 expression in human cancers.

Name	Cancer	Ratio (%) elevated in tumor specimens	References
TBX2	Breast	50%-80%	[28,31-33,39,40]
	Pancreas	50%-60%	[36,37]
	Melanoma	63% (12/19 melanoma cell lines)	[3,42]
TBX3	Breast	70%–90%	[30,34,35]
	Ovarian	69%	[35]
	Pancreas	ND	[36,38]
	Melanoma	57% (8/14 melanoma cell lines)	[43]
	Liver	79%–87%	[44]
	Cervical	ND	[45]
	Lung	ND	[47]

ND, not determined.

amplified and upregulated in a subset of breast cancer cell lines, and BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutant breast tumors [28,30-33]. Similarly, TBX3 is shown to be overexpressed in a subset of breast cancer cell lines [34] and to be upregulated in plasma from breast and ovarian cancer patients [35]. Both TBX2 and TBX3 are also closely associated with pancreatic cancer. While TBX2 is found to be upregulated in 50% of 31 pancreatic cancer cell lines tested [36,37], TBX3 is found to be overexpressed in metastatic pancreatic endocrine neoplasms [38]. Notably, TBX2 is located in chromosome 17q23 [39], a region frequently amplified in breast and pancreatic cancer cells [30,36,40,41]. Furthermore, both TBX2 and TBX3 are expressed in normal melanocytes and have been shown to be strongly overexpressed in a panel of melanoma cell lines [3,42,43]. Deregulated expression of TBX2 and TBX3 has also been reported in other cancers. TBX3 overexpression is closely associated with the mutational status of beta-catenin in murine liver tumors induced by Myc as well as in human hepatocellular carcinomas and hepatoblastomas [44]. Moreover, the upregulation of TBX3 is strongly associated with metastatic phenotypes of uterine cervical cancer [45]. TBX2, which is expressed in normal human fibroblasts, is recently shown to be reduced in several transformed fibroblast cell lines [46], while TBX3 is found to be upregulated in transformed lung fibroblast cells [47]. In addition, ectopic expression of TBX2 could result in polyploidy and cisplatin resistance in several human transformed lung fibroblast cell lines [48]. Although the above results suggest a strong association of both TBX2 and TBX3 with cancer, they do not provide the exact mechanism(s) for how these T-box genes contribute to tumorigenesis.

# 5. Roles of TBX2/TBX3 in tumorigenesis

# 5.1. p14<sup>ARF</sup> (p19<sup>ARF</sup>)/MDM2/p53/p21<sup>CIP1</sup> pathway

A combination of cyclins, cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), and CDK inhibitors interact together to regulate proliferation, cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and senescence, and the abnormal expression of these key cell cycle regulators can contribute to cancer. Cellular senescence is a protective mechanism against cancer, and is broadly defined as a physiological program of irreversible growth arrest, which could be triggered by telomeres shortening (replicative senescence) or other stress signals (accelerated senescence) [49]. This "accelerated senescence," which does not involve telomere shortening, is also triggered in normal cells by the oncogenic mutations of Ras or Raf and by some other forms of supraphysiological mitogenic signal [50–52]. One of the best characterized mechanisms for cellular senescence is the ARF/MDM2/ p53/p21<sup>CIP1</sup> pathway [53]. Expression of ARF can be induced by overexpression of a variety of oncogenes or mitogenic signals resulting in binding of MDM2, stabilization of p53, and a program of gene expression that leads to either cell cycle arrest or apoptosis. Growth arrest of senescent cells is initiated with the activation of p53. The activated p53 has multiple effects on gene expression, the most relevant of which in regard to

senescence is transcriptional activation of the CDK inhibitor p21<sup>CIP1</sup>, which is necessary for p53-mediated growth arrest [54,55]. In primary cells, this pathway can act as a monitor of oncogenic transformation and can induce p53-dependent or -independent cell cycle arrest, senescence and apoptosis. However, downregulation or inhibition of ARF can result in bypass of senescence, failure of apoptosis, promotion of cell proliferation and immortalization.

The study of Jacobs et al. [33] has shown that TBX2 is able to promote bypass of senescence by downregulating the expression of p19<sup>ARF</sup> in senescence-predisposed BMI<sup>-/-</sup> mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs). Moreover, forced expression of p19<sup>ARF</sup> in TBX2 expressing MEFs recapitulates the senescence process, indicating that TBX2 could promote bypass of senescence by inhibiting p19<sup>ARF</sup> levels. In addition to TBX2, TBX3 is also involved in regulation of cell senescence [30,56]. This is confirmed when ectopic expression of TBX3 results in immortalization of MEFs through suppressing the expression of p19<sup>ARF</sup>, suggesting that the immortalization effect is partly due to repression of the ARF/MDM2/p53 pathway. Consistent with this hypothesis, point mutations in the T-box domain of TBX3 which are believed to result in loss of binding to DNA, impair the ability of TBX3 to inhibit senescence or suppress p14<sup>ARF</sup> expression. Furthermore, the overexpression of TBX3 is also shown to regulate the p53 pathway to both suppress apoptosis and facilitate transformation [57]. These effects of TBX3 are probably due to the suppression of p14<sup>ARF</sup>, which leads to MDM2-dependent sequestration, degradation and inactivation of p53.

In addition to the repression of p14<sup>ARF</sup> /p19<sup>ARF</sup>, several studies have shown that TBX2/TBX3 could directly transcriptionally repress the expression of p21<sup>CIP1</sup> [58–60]. By using a combination of *in vitro* DNA-binding, transfection, and chromatin immunoprecipitation assays, Prince et al. have shown that TBX2 can bind and repress the p21<sup>CIP1</sup> promoter in vitro and in vivo, and small interfering RNA (siRNA)-mediated downregulation of TBX2 leads to a robust activation of p21<sup>CIP1</sup> expression [58]. Similarly, TBX3 is also shown to bind the consensus T-element, the p21<sup>CIP1</sup> promoter and the Nppa cardiac target gene, and repress the expression of p21<sup>CIP1</sup> [59]. Because p21<sup>CIP1</sup> is implicated in the regulation of cellular senescence, the ability of TBX2/TBX3 to suppress the expression of both p14<sup>ARF</sup> and p21<sup>CIP1</sup> may provide an explanation for a powerful and cooperative antisenescence signal. The possibility that TBX2/TBX3 contributes to tumorigenesis by inhibiting senescence is supported by a study, which showed that expression of an inducible dominant-negative TBX2 could result in displacement of histone deacetylase 1, up-regulation of p21<sup>CIP1</sup> expression, and the induction of replicative senescence in CDKN2A-null B16 melanoma cells [42].

Because  $p14^{ARF}$  could also influence p53-independent pathways which regulate cell proliferation and apoptosis, it is likely that the repression of  $p14^{ARF}$  by TBX2/TBX3 has a significant effect on these cellular processes. Thus, overexpression of either TBX2 or TBX3 is expected to suppress  $p14^{ARF}$ -dependent repression of E2F-1 activity and disrupt E2F-dependent apoptosis and cell cycle arrest [60]. Similarly, TBX2 and TBX3 might impair  $p14^{ARF}$ -dependent inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B induction and activation by oncogenic factors [61]. With other p53-independent targets of  $p14^{ARF}$  characterized, roles of TBX2 and TBX3 in tumorigenesis will become more apparent.

# 5.2. pRb pathway

The retinoblastoma protein (pRb) is a canonical tumor suppressor, negatively regulating different steps of cell-cycle progression [62]. Rb and its close homologs p107 and p130 physically interact with many proteins, but their binding to members of the E2F family of transcription factors is central to their role in cell cycle regulation, especially during G1 phase [63]. Complexes between pRb family members and various E2Fs block the activation of E2F responsive genes by recruiting HDACs and other chromatin remodeling factors to

E2F responsive promoters [64–66]. Notably, E2Fs regulate genes necessary for DNA replication, including those enzymes required for DNA metabolism and synthesis, as well as cyclins E and A. Therefore, the active hypophosphorylated forms of Rb family members block entry into S phase by inhibiting the E2F transcriptional program. In addition to its role in E2F regulation, pRb family members also interact with transcription factors that govern cell differentiation, such as C/ EBP, NFIL-6 and c-jun [67–69].

Recent studies have found that TBX2 is associated with pRb pathway [70,71]. Vance et al. has shown that TBX2 associates with active hypophosphorylated Rb1, but not with the Rb1-related proteins p107 or p130 in melanoma cells [70]. They find that TBX2 binds Rb1 in a LXCXE independent manner, and this interaction enhances TBX2 DNA binding and transcriptional repression. Microarray analysis of melanoma cells expressing inducible dominantnegative TBX2 shows that TBX2 regulates the expression of many genes involved in cell cycle control, and a mutation disrupting the Rb1-TBX2 interaction also affects TBX2 target gene selectivity. These data suggest that TBX2 plays an important role in cell cycle control through interaction with pRb. Vormer et al. has performed a cDNA screen and aimed to find oncogenes which collaborate with the loss of pRb and Ras<sup>V12</sup> in transformation of MEFs. They identify the oncogene TBX2 as a cooperating factor in transformation of pRB-deficient MEFs [71].

#### 5.3. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway

The canonical Wnt pathway has been identified as a critical regulator of stem cells, which is involved in virtually every aspect of embryonic development and controls homeostatic self-renewal in a number of adult tissues [72]. Germline mutations in the Wnt pathway may cause several hereditary diseases, and somatic mutations are closely associated with cancer of the intestine, liver and a variety of other tissues [73]. This has raised the possibility that the tightly regulated self-renewal mediated by Wnt pathway in stem and progenitor cells is disrupted in cancer cells to allow malignant proliferation.

A recent study has identified TBX3 as a downstream target gene of Wnt/beta-catenin pathway implicated in hepatocarcinogenesis and has shown that TBX3 is directly regulated by beta-catenin using chromatin immunoprecipitation and reporter assays [44]. TBX3 transcription is activated by overexpression of beta-catenin in mouse liver and in human tumor cell lines. Furthermore, it has also been shown that inhibition of TBX3 by specific siRNAs impairs betacatenin-mediated cell survival and renders cells sensitive to doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. These results reveal a role of TBX3 as a mediator of beta-catenin activities on cell proliferation and survival and as an important player in hepatocarcinogenesis. Fong et al. has shown that TBX2 functions within the context of Wnt signaling to mediate cell migration in the early embryonic development [74], indicating that TBX2 may be also a target of Wnt signaling pathway. However, whether TBX2 is a direct target of Wnt signaling pathway in cancer cells should be further confirmed and investigated.

Beta-catenin functions in a dual manner in epithelial cells, depending on the intracellular localization. In the nucleus, betacatenin can act as a main effector of the canonical Wnt pathway. However, at the plasma membrane, beta-catenin is a critical component of adherens junctions, acting in cell-cell adhesion by linking E-cadherin in conjunction with alpha-catenin to the actin cytoskeleton [75]. Loss of E-cadherin expression results in a reduced degradation and subsequent overexpression of free cytoplasmic betacatenin, which will subsequently translocate the nucleus and activate the Wnt pathway. Rodriguez et al. has shown that TBX3 and TBX2 repress the expression of E-cadherin in melanoma cells, and depletion of TBX3 increases E-cadherin mRNA and protein levels and suppresses melanoma invasiveness *in vitro* [43]. These results suggest that TBX2 and TBX3 may play a dual role during the radial to vertical growth phase transition by both inhibiting senescence via repression of  $p21^{\text{CIP1}}$ , and enhancing melanoma invasiveness by reducing E-cadherin levels.

### 5.4. EGR1 signaling pathway

The early growth response (EGR) group of proteins is a family of zinc-finger transcription factors involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis. In the EGR family, EGR1 is the best characterized as a direct regulator of multiple downstream pathways. EGR1 has both activation and repression domains. Recent evidence has indicated that EGR1 has significant tumor suppressor properties, by participating in the regulation of a network of tumor suppressors including TGFβ1, p53, PTEN, and fibronection [76]. EGR1 can promote apoptosis in response to stress and DNA damage in a number of cancers.

A recent study has shown that TBX2 represses the putative breast tumor suppressor NDRG1 (N-myc downregulated gene 1) not through direct promoter interaction but as a corepressor through recruitment of EGR1, and drives proliferation in breast cancer cells [28]. TBX2 interacts with EGR1 to target the NDRG1 proximal promoter and to drive cell proliferation. This is the first study to show that TBX2 is able to target genes independent of the T domain for DNA binding through EGR1. This ability would greatly enhance the oncogenic potential of TBX2, given the importance of EGR1 as an upstream modulator of multiple important tumor suppressors.

# 6. Potential targets of cancer therapy

The potential for using TBX2/TBX3 as targets of cancer therapy is now being explored. The theoretical rationale is based on the fact that TBX2/TBX3 is overexpressed and functions as a potential oncogene in various cancers. Such results offer the experimental bases for the use of TBX2/TBX3 as therapeutic targets. One strategy is to inhibit the function of TBX2/TBX3. HDAC inhibitors promote growth arrest, differentiation and apoptosis of cancer cells. The US FAD have approved vorinostate for the treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL). The other HDAC inhibitors, including FK228, PXD101, PCI-24781, ITF2357, MGCD0103, MS-275, valproic acid and LBH589, have also demonstrated therapeutic potential as monotherapy or combination with other anti-tumor drugs in CTCL and other malignancies [77]. Inhibition of the functions of TBX2/TBX3 would be one of anticancer mechanisms. Given that TBX2/TBX3 is overexpressed in cancer, inhibition of its expression would reduce or eliminate its oncogenic properties. RNA interference (RNAi) is a strategy to specifically knockdown a target protein. The major challenge is to develop an effective siRNA delivery vector with a long half-life in circulation, low toxicity and low immunogenicity. Another concern is the potential off-targets effects of RNAi as silence of other members of T-box gene family or unpredicted important genes may lead to severe side-effects in vivo.

There is increasing interest in targeting the small repression domain of TBX2 and TBX3. As no any other protein has this special RD and the expression of TBX2/TBX3 is at low level in somatic cells, it is possible to design a drug targeting RD with high specificity. Unlike the current anticancer drugs, this drug would be very precious for the treatment of various cancers because of the low toxicity and low sideeffects. The studies of the RD structure, especially the crystal structure of the interaction of RD with its counterparts, would help us to design specific compounds to block the functions of TBX2 and TBX3 in cancer cells. Based on the small RD, an alternative is to design synthetic peptides to block TBX2/TBX3 without the crystal structure information of the RD. For example, without the known crystal structure of spike protein of SARS-coronavirus, effective peptides were identified to block the interaction of spike protein and its receptor by peptide scan assays [78]. Currently, there is great interest in employing peptides or proteins as therapeutic agents for cancer treatment. Several peptides derived from tumor suppressors or oncogenes have been developed as antitumorigenic drugs and proven to be effective in inhibition of tumor cell growth [79–82]. We prospect that antagonist peptides targeting the RD of TBX2/3 would be effective agents for the treatment of a number of human cancers in the future. We also prospect that computer-based drug design will help us to develop RD specific inhibitors after the crystal structure of RD is figured out in the future. Some of the RD inhibitors may be good for anticancer treatment.

#### 7. Concluding remarks and perspectives

In conclusion, TBX2 and TBX3 have been shown to be amplified and overexpressed in a subset of cancers. Upregulation of TBX2 and TBX3 suppresses the expression of p14<sup>ARF</sup> and p21<sup>CIP1</sup> and promotes bypass of senescence through inactivation of p53 pathway. TBX2 functionally interacts with pRb, and pRb modulates TBX2 functional specificity. In addition, TBX3 is shown to be a downstream target of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway, and overexpression of TBX2 and TBX3 represses the expression of E-cadherin, which is demonstrated to be a prerequisite for epithelial tumor cell invasion and a negative regulator of the canonical Wnt pathway. Moreover, TBX2 is shown to interact with EGR1 and suppress multiple downstream tumor suppressors. Identification and characterization of target genes which are transcriptionally regulated by TBX2 and TBX3 are essential for an improved understanding of the roles of TBX2 and TBX3 in tumorigenesis. Drugs targeting the RD of TBX2/3 would be attractive for the treatment of a number of human cancers in the future.

# Acknowledgement

This work was supported by Research Grant Council (CUHK4428/ 06M and CUHK7334/03M, to MLH) and Innovation and Technology Commission (ITS/080/08, to MLH) of Hong Kong Government, Hong Kong Special administration Region (HKSAR), China.

# References

- J. Smith, T-box genes: what they do and how they do it, Trends Genet. 15 (1999) 154–158.
- [2] M. He, L. Wen, C.E. Campbell, J.Y. Wu, Y. Rao, Transcription repression by Xenopus ET and its human ortholog TBX3, a gene involved in ulnar-mammary syndrome, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96 (1999) 10212–10217.
- [3] S. Carreira, T.J. Dexter, U. Yavuzer, D.J. Easty, C.R. Goding, Brachyury-related transcription factor Tbx2 and repression of the melanocyte-specific TRP-1 promoter, Mol. Cell. Biol. 18 (1998) 5099–5108.
- [4] N. Dobrovolskaia-Zavadskaia, Sur la mortification spontanee de la queue che la souris nouveau-nee et sur l'existence d'un caractere (facteur) herediaire "non viable", Crit. Rev. Soc. Biol. 97 (1927) 114–116.
- [5] B.G. Herrmann, S. Labeit, A. Poustka, T.R. King, H. Lehrach, Cloning of the T gene required in mesoderm formation in the mouse, Nature 343 (1990) 617–622.
- [6] G.O. Pflugfelder, H. Roth, B. Poeck, A homology domain shared between Drosophila optomotor-blind and mouse Brachyury is involved in DNA binding, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 186 (1992) 918–925.
- [7] V.E. Papaioannou, L.M. Silver, The T-box gene family, Bioessays 20 (1998) 9-19.
- [8] S.I. Agulnik, N. Garvey, S. Hancock, I. Ruvinsky, D.L. Chapman, I. Agulnik, R. Bollag, V. Papaioannou, L.M. Silver, Evolution of mouse T-box genes by tandem duplication and cluster dispersion, Genetics 144 (1996) 249–254.
- [9] C. Showell, O. Binder, F.L. Conlon, T-box genes in early embryogenesis, Dev. Dyn. 229 (2004) 201–218.
- [10] M. Bamshad, R.C. Lin, D.J. Law, W.C. Watkins, P.A. Krakowiak, M.E. Moore, P. Franceschini, R. Lala, L.B. Holmes, T.C. Gebuhr, B.G. Bruneau, A. Schinzel, J.G. Seidman, C.E. Seidman, L.B. Jorde, Mutations in human TBX3 alter limb, apocrine and genital development in ulnar-mammary syndrome, Nat. Genet. 16 (1997) 311–315.
- [11] Q.Y. Li, R.A. Newbury-Ecob, J.A. Terrett, D.I. Wilson, A.R. Curtis, C.H. Yi, T. Gebuhr, P.J. Bullen, S.C. Robson, T. Strachan, D. Bonnet, S. Lyonnet, I.D. Young, J.A. Raeburn, A.J. Buckler, D.J. Law, J.D. Brook, Holt-Oram syndrome is caused by mutations in TBX5, a member of the Brachyury (T) gene family, Nat. Genet. 15 (1997) 21–29.
- [12] C.T. Basson, D.R. Bachinsky, R.C. Lin, T. Levi, J.A. Elkins, J. Soults, D. Grayzel, E. Kroumpouzou, T.A. Traill, J. Leblanc-Straceski, B. Renault, R. Kucherlapati, J.G. Seidman, C.E. Seidman, Mutations in human TBX5 [corrected] cause limb and cardiac malformation in Holt-Oram syndrome, Nat. Genet. 15 (1997) 30–35.
- [13] A. Abrahams, M.I. Parker, S. Prince, The T-box transcription factor Tbx2: its role in development and possible implication in cancer, IUBMB Life 62 (2010) 92–102.

- [14] A. Abrahams, S. Mowla, M.I. Parker, C.R. Goding, S. Prince, UV-mediated regulation of the anti-senescence factor Tbx2, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 2223–2230.
- [15] V. Wilson, F.L. Conlon, The T-box family, Genome Biol. 3 (2006) (REVIEWS3008).
   [16] A. Kispert, B. Koschorz, B.G. Herrmann, The T protein encoded by Brachyury is a
- tissue-specific transcription factor, EMBO J. 14 (1995) 4763–4772. [17] T.K. Ghosh, E.A. Packham, A.J. Bonser, T.E. Robinson, S.J. Cross, J.D. Brook,
- Characterization of the TBX5 binding site and analysis of mutations that cause Holt-Oram syndrome, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (2001) 1983–1994.
  [18] M.E. Lingbeek, J.J. Jacobs, M. van Lohuizen, The T-box repressors TBX2 and TBX3
- specifically regulate the tumor suppressor gene p14ARF via a variant T-site in the initiator, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 26120–26127.
   [19] FL Conlon L Fairclough B M Price FS Casey LC Smith Determinants of T box
- [19] F.L. Conlon, L. Fairclough, B.M. Price, E.S. Casey, J.C. Smith, Determinants of T box protein specificity, Development 128 (2001) 3749–3758.
- [20] C.W. Müller, B.G. Herrmann, Crystallographic structure of the T domain-DNA complex of the Brachyury transcription factor, Nature 389 (1997) 884–888.
- [21] M. Coll, J.G. Seidman, C.W. Müller, Structure of the DNA-bound T-box domain of human TBX3, a transcription factor responsible for ulnar-mammary syndrome, Structure 10 (2002) 343–356.
- [22] M. Murakami, M. Nakagawa, E.N. Olson, O. Nakagawa, A WW domain protein TAZ is a critical coactivator for TBX5, a transcription factor implicated in Holt–Oram syndrome, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102 (2005) 18034–18039.
- [23] F. Kanai, P.A. Marignani, D. Sarbassova, R. Yagi, R.A. Hall, M. Donowitz, A. Hisaminato, T. Fujiwara, Y. Ito, L.C. Cantley, M.B. Yaffe, TAZ: a novel transcriptional co-activator regulated by interactions with 14-3-3 and PDZ domain proteins, EMBO J. 19 (2000) 6778–6791.
- [24] B. Lamolet, A.M. Pulichino, T. Lamonerie, Y. Gauthier, T. Brue, A. Enjalbert, J. Drouin, A pituitary cell-restricted T box factor, Tpit, activates POMC transcription in cooperation with Pitx homeoproteins, Cell 104 (2001) 849–859.
- [25] G.S. Wang, C.J. Hong, T.Y. Yen, H.Y. Huang, Y. Ou, T.N. Huang, W.G. Jung, T.Y. Kuo, M. Sheng, T.F. Wang, Y.P. Hsueh, Transcriptional modification by a CASKinteracting nucleosome assembly protein, Neuron 42 (2004) 113–128.
- [26] N.J. Messenger, C. Kabitschke, R. Andrews, D. Grimmer, R. Núñez Miguel, T.L. Blundell, J.C. Smith, F.C. Wardle, Functional specificity of the Xenopus T-domain protein Brachyury is conferred by its ability to interact with Smad1, Dev. Cell 8 (2005) 599–610.
- [27] R. Singh, T. Horsthuis, H.F. Farin, T. Grieskamp, J. Norden, M. Petry, V. Wakker, A.F. Moorman, V.M. Christoffels, A. Kispert, Tbx20 interacts with smads to confine tbx2 expression to the atrioventricular canal, Circ. Res. 105 (2009) 442–452.
- [28] K.L. Redmond, N.T. Crawford, H. Farmer, Z.C. D'Costa, G.J. O'Brien, N.E. Buckley, R.D. Kennedy, P.G. Johnston, D.P. Harkin, P.B. Mullan, T-box 2 represses NDRG1 through an EGR1-dependent mechanism to drive the proliferation of breast cancer cells, Oncogene 29 (2010) 3252–3262.
- [29] H. Carlson, S. Ota, C.E. Campbell, P.J. Hurlin, A dominant repression domain in Tbx3 mediates transcriptional repression and cell immortalization: relevance to mutations in Tbx3 that cause ulnar-mammary syndrome, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (2001) 2403–2413.
- [30] W. Yarosh, T. Barrientos, T. Esmailpour, L. Lin, P.M. Carpenter, K. Osann, H. Anton-Culver, T. Huang, TBX3 is overexpressed in breast cancer and represses p14 ARF by interacting with histone deacetylases, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 693–699.
- [31] C.S. Sinclair, C. Adem, A. Naderi, C.L. Soderberg, M. Johnson, K. Wu, L. Wadum, V.L. Couch, T.A. Sellers, D. Schaid, J. Slezak, Z. Fredericksen, J.N. Ingle, L. Hartmann, R.B. Jenkins, F.J. Couch, TBX2 is preferentially amplified in BRCA1- and BRCA2-related breast tumors, Cancer Res. 62 (2002) 3587–3591.
- [32] C. Adem, C.L. Soderberg, K. Hafner, C. Reynolds, J.M. Slezak, C.S. Sinclair, T.A. Sellers, D.J. Schaid, F. Couch, L.C. Hartmann, R.B. Jenkins, ERBB2, TBX2, RPS6KB1, and MYC alterations in breast tissues of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers, Genes Chromosom. Cancer 41 (2004) 1–11.
- [33] J.J. Jacobs, P. Keblusek, E. Robanus-Maandag, P. Kristel, M. Lingbeek, P.M. Nederlof, T. van Welsem, M.J. van de Vijver, E.Y. Koh, G.Q. Daley, M. van Lohuizen, Senescence bypass screen identifies TBX2, which represses Cdkn2a (p19(ARF)) and is amplified in a subset of human breast cancers, Nat. Genet. 26 (2000) 291–299.
- [34] W. Fan, X. Huang, C. Chen, J. Gray, T. Huang, TBX3 and its isoform TBX3+2a are functionally distinctive in inhibition of senescence and are overexpressed in a subset of breast cancer cell lines, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 5132–5139.
- [35] M. Lomnytska, A. Dubrovska, U. Hellman, N. Volodko, S. Souchelnytskyi, Increased expression of cSHMT, Tbx3 and utrophin in plasma of ovarian and breast cancer patients, Int. J. Cancer 118 (2006) 412–421.
- [36] E.H. Mahlamäki, M. Bärlund, M. Tanner, L. Gorunova, M. Höglund, R. Karhu, A. Kallioniemi, Frequent amplification of 8q24, 11q, 17q, and 20q-specific genes in pancreatic cancer, Genes Chromosom. Cancer 35 (2002) 353–358.
- [37] S. Duo, T. Tiao-Dong, Z. Lei, W. Wei, S. Hong-Li, D. Xian-Wei, Expression and clinical significance of tbx2 in pancreatic cancer, Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev. 10 (2009) 118–122.
- [38] D.E. Hansel, A. Rahman, M. House, R. Ashfaq, K. Berg, C.J. Yeo, A. Maitra, Met protooncogene and insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 overexpression correlates with metastatic ability in well-differentiated pancreatic endocrine neoplasms, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (2004) 6152–6158.
- [39] D.J. Law, T. Gebuhr, N. Garvey, S.I. Agulnik, L.M. Silver, Identification, characterization, and localization to chromosome 17q21-22 of the human TBX2 homolog, member of a conserved developmental gene family, Mamm. Genome 6 (1995) 793–797.
- [40] G. Wu, C. Sinclair, S. Hinson, J.N. Ingle, P.C. Roche, F.J. Couch, Structural analysis of the 17q22–23 amplicon identifies several independent targets of amplification in breast cancer cell lines and tumors, Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 4951–4955.
- [41] M. Bärlund, O. Monni, J. Kononen, R. Cornelison, J. Torhorst, G. Sauter, O.L.L.I.-P. Kallioniemi, A. Kallioniemi, Multiple genes at 17q23 undergo amplification and overexpression in breast cancer, Cancer Res. 60 (2000) 5340–5344.

- [42] K.W. Vance, S. Carreira, G. Brosch, C.R. Goding, Tbx2 is overexpressed and plays an important role in maintaining proliferation and suppression of senescence in melanomas, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 2260–2268.
- [43] M. Rodriguez, E. Aladowicz, L. Lanfrancone, C.R. Goding, Tbx3 represses Ecadherin expression and enhances melanoma invasiveness, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 7872–7881.
- [44] C.A. Renard, C. Labalette, C. Armengol, D. Cougot, Y. Wei, S. Cairo, P. Pineau, C. Neuveut, A. de Reyniès, A. Dejean, C. Perret, M.A. Buendia, Tbx3 is a downstream target of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway and a critical mediator of beta-catenin survival functions in liver cancer, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 901–910.
- [45] H. Lyng, R.S. Brøvig, D.H. Svendsrud, R. Holm, O. Kaalhus, K. Knutstad, H. Oksefjell, K. Sundfør, G.B. Kristensen, T. Stokke, Gene expressions and copy numbers associated with metastatic phenotypes of uterine cervical cancer, BMC Genomics 7 (2006) 268.
- [46] H. Teng, E. Davis, A. Abrahams, S. Mowla, M.I. Parker, S. Prince, A role for Tbx2 in the regulation of the alpha2(1) collagen gene in human fibroblasts, J. Cell. Biochem. 102 (2007) 618–625.
- [47] X.J. Yin, J.N. Xu, C.Q. Zou, F.S. He, F.D. Fang, Genes differentially expressed in human lung fibroblast cells transformed by glycidyl methacrylate, Biomed. Environ. Sci. 17 (2004) 432–441.
- [48] E. Davis, H. Teng, B. Bilican, M.I. Parker, B. Liu, S. Carriera, C.R. Goding, S. Prince, Ectopic Tbx2 expression results in polyploidy and cisplatin resistance, Oncogene 27 (2008) 976–984.
- [49] I.B. Roninson, Tumor cell senescence in cancer treatment, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 2705–2715.
- [50] M. Serrano, A.W. Lin, M.E. McCurrach, D. Beach, S.W. Lowe, Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a, Cell 88 (1997) 593–602.
- [51] J. Zhu, D. Woods, M. McMahon, J.M. Bishop, Senescence of human fibroblasts induced by oncogenic Raf, Genes Dev. 12 (1998) 2997–3007.
- [52] J. Campisi, Cellular senescence as a tumor-suppressor mechanism, Trends Cell Biol. 11 (2001) S27–S31.
- [53] C.J. Sherr, J.D. Weber, The ARF/p53 pathway, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 10 (2000) 94–99.
   [54] T. Waldman, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, p21 is necessary for the p53-mediated G1
- arrest in human cancer cells, Cancer Res. 55 (1995) 5187–5190.
  [55] T. Waldman, C. Lengauer, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, Uncoupling of S phase and mitosis induced by anticancer agents in cells lacking p21, Nature 381 (1996) 713–716.
- [56] T.R. Brummelkamp, R.M. Kortlever, M. Lingbeek, F. Trettel, M.E. MacDonald, M. van Lohuizen, R. Bernards, TBX-3, the gene mutated in Ulnar-Mammary Syndrome, is a negative regulator of p19ARF and inhibits senescence, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 6567–6572.
- [57] H. Carlson, S. Ota, Y. Song, Y. Chen, P.J. Hurlin, Tbx3 impinges on the p53 pathway to suppress apoptosis, facilitate cell transformation and block myogenic differentiation, Oncogene 21 (2002) 3827–3835.
- [58] S. Prince, S. Carreira, K.W. Vance, A. Abrahams, C.R. Goding, Tbx2 directly represses the expression of the p21(WAF1) cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 1669–1674.
- [59] W.M. Hoogaars, P. Barnett, M. Rodriguez, D.E. Clout, A.F. Moorman, C.R. Goding, V.M. Christoffels, TBX3 and its splice variant TBX3 + exon 2a are functionally similar, Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 21 (2008) 379–387.
- [60] S.L. Mason, O. Loughran, N.B. La Thangue, p14(ARF) regulates E2F activity, Oncogene 21 (2002) 4220–4230.
- [61] S. Rocha, K.J. Campbell, N.D. Perkins, p53- and Mdm2-independent repression of NFkappa B transactivation by the ARF tumor suppressor, Mol. Cell 12 (2003) 15–25.
- [62] R.A. Weinberg, The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control, Cell 81 (1995) 323–330.
- [63] N. Dyson, The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins, Genes Dev. 12 (1998) 2245–2262.
- [64] H. Ogawa, K. Ishiguro, S. Gaubatz, D.M. Livingston, Y. Nakatani, A complex with chromatin modifiers that occupies E2F- and Myc-responsive genes in G0 cells, Science 296 (2002) 1132–1136.
- [65] J.B. Rayman, Y. Takahashi, V.B. Indjeian, J.H. Dannenberg, S. Catchpole, R.J. Watson, H. te Riele, B.D. Dynlacht, E2F mediates cell cycle-dependent transcriptional repression in vivo by recruitment of an HDAC1/mSin3B corepressor complex, Genes Dev. 16 (2002) 933–947.
- [66] J.W. Harbour, D.C. Dean, The Rb/E2F pathway: expanding roles and emerging paradigms, Genes Dev. 14 (2000) 2393–2409.
- [67] P.L. Chen, D.J. Riley, S. Chen-Kiang, W.H. Lee, Retinoblastoma protein directly interacts with and activates the transcription factor NF-IL6, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93 (1996) 465–469.
- [68] P.L. Chen, D.J. Riley, Y. Chen, W.H. Lee, Retinoblastoma protein positively regulates terminal adipocyte differentiation through direct interaction with C/EBPs, Genes Dev. 10 (1996) 2794–2804.
- [69] M.A. Nead, L.A. Baglia, M.J. Antinore, J.W. Ludlow, D.J. McCance, Rb binds c-Jun and activates transcription, EMBO J. 17 (1998) 2342–2352.
- [70] K.W. Vance, H.M. Shaw, M. Rodriguez, S. Ott, C.R. Goding, The retinoblastoma protein modulates Tbx2 functional specificity, Mol. Biol. Cell (Jun 9 2010).
- [71] T.L. Vormer, F. Foijer, C.L. Wielders, H. te Riele, Anchorage-independent growth of pocket protein-deficient murine fibroblasts requires bypass of G2 arrest and can be accomplished by expression of TBX2, Mol. Cell. Biol. 28 (2008) 7263–7273.
- [72] T. Reya, H. Clevers, Wnt signalling in stem cells and cancer, Nature 434 (2005) 843–850.
- [73] H. Clevers, Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease, Cell 127 (2006) 469–480.
- [74] S. Fong, A. Emelyanov, C. Teh, V. Korzh, Wnt signalling mediated by Tbx2b regulates cell migration during formation of the neural plate, Development 132 (2005) 3587–3596.

- [75] O. Schmalhofer, S. Brabletz, T. Brabletz, E-cadherin, beta-catenin, and ZEB1 in malignant progression of cancer, Cancer Metastasis Rev. 28 (2009) 151–166.
- [76] V. Baron, E.D. Adamson, A. Calogero, G. Ragona, D. Mercola, The transcription factor Egr1 is a direct regulator of multiple tumor suppressors including TGFbeta1, PTEN, p53, and fibronectin, Cancer Gene Ther. 13 (2006) 115–124.
- [77] A.A. Lane, B.A. Chabner, Histone Deacetylase inhibitors in cancer therapy, J. Clin.
- [77] K.A. Late, D.A. Chabler, instolic Dealerylase infinitions in carter therapy, J. Chin. Oncol. 27 (2009) 5459–5468.
  [78] B.J. Zheng, Y. Guan, M.L. Hez, H. Sun, L. Du, Y. Zheng, K.L. Wong, H. Chen, Y. Chen, L. Lu, J.A. Tanner, R.M. Watt, N. Niccolai, A. Bernini, O. Spiga, P.C. Woo, H.F. Kung, K.Y. Yuen, J.D. Huang, Synthetic peptides outside the spike protein heptad repeat regions as potent inhibitors of SARS-associated coronavirus, Antivir. Ther. 10 (2005) 393–403.
- [79] G. Selivanova, V. Iotsova, I. Okan, M. Fritsche, M. Ström, B. Groner, R.C. Grafström, K.G. Wiman, Restoration of the growth suppression function of mutant p53 by a synthetic peptide derived from the p53 C-terminal domain, Nat. Med. 3 (1997) 632-638. [80] M. Bonfanti, S. Taverna, M. Salmona, M. D'Incalci, M. Broggini, p21WAF1-derived
- peptides linked to an internalization peptide inhibit human cancer cell growth, Cancer Res. 57 (1997) 1442-1446.
- [81] R. Fåhraeus, S. Laín, K.L. Ball, D.P. Lane, Characterization of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitory domain of the INK4 family as a model for a synthetic tumour suppressor molecule, Oncogene 16 (1998) 587-596.
- [82] Y. Zhou, W. Du, T. Koretsky, G.C. Bagby, Q. Pang, TAT-mediated intracellular delivery of NPM-derived peptide induces apoptosis in leukemic cells and suppresses leukemogenesis in mice, Blood 112 (2008) 2474–2483.